

**THE UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE EXTENSION
INSTITUTE OF AGRICULTURE
MAURY COUNTY MASTER GARDENER ASSOCIATION
BYLAWS
REVISED BY VOTE OF MEMBERSHIP ON OCTOBER 3, 2023**

ARTICLE I – NAME

This organization shall be known as the Maury County Master Gardener Association, referred to as “the MCMGA,” “MCMG” or “the Association.”

ARTICLE II – MISSION AND PURPOSE

SECTION 1. Mission: Improve the lives of Tennesseans through horticulture education delivered by a dedicated and skilled volunteer network.

SECTION 2. The Maury County Master Gardener program trains and maintains horticultural volunteers for the University of Tennessee Extension, the off-campus educational unit of the UT Institute of Agriculture. The purpose of the Association is to foster and engage in activities that promote environmental stewardship and provide horticultural information based on UT Extension research to its members and to the community at large, thereby improving the quality of life for citizens of Maury County, Tennessee.

SECTION 3. The Association is a non-profit organization. It shall have the power to collect, manage, and expend dues and contributions in a manner consistent with its purpose; to incorporate as a non-profit corporation; to enlist services of independent contractors; and to perform all lawful actions consistent with the Association’s purpose and bylaws.

SECTION 4. The association does not participate in political campaigns and does not endorse candidates for public office.

ARTICLE III – ROLE OF THE EXTENSION AGENT

SECTION 1. The County Extension Agent, as the Master Gardener Coordinator, advises and supervises the MCMGA and, as the University of Tennessee Extension representative in Maury County, is the final authority on its Master Gardener program. The administrative directives set forth in these bylaws provide guidelines to facilitate operation of the Association.

SECTION 2. The County Extension Agent is available to meet with the Association president and other officers as invited by the president, typically each month, for mentoring and planning.

SECTION 3. The County Extension Agent shall sign up new officers for the State Master Gardener newsletter and regional news as appropriate.

ARTICLE IV – MEMBERS

SECTION 1. Membership in the MCMGA shall be by completing Master Gardener training classes and by remaining a member in good standing. The program is open to all interested persons without regard to race, national origin, religion, gender, disability, marital or veteran

status, or any other legally protected status. Each member must maintain the integrity of the organization.

a. Members are those who have had Master Gardener certification conferred upon them after completing the required course of study conducted by the University of Tennessee Extension. They remain active members in good standing by maintaining certified status and paying annual dues each calendar year.

b. Master Gardener Interns are required to perform 40 volunteer service hours and acquire an additional 8 continued education unit hours (CEUs), within 12 months of completion of the class.

c. To remain a certified Master Gardener in good standing in subsequent years, an individual must perform 25 volunteer service hours and acquire 8 CEUs within each year.

d. If an individual does not meet these requirements, he or she will no longer be considered a certified Master Gardener and will forfeit all privileges of membership. The Association, with the approval of the County Extension Agent, may make exceptions in unusual circumstances.

e. The County Extension Agent is the sole authority on certification status. He or she will notify the Association of any change in certification of its current members as well as persons newly certified after annual training classes.

f. Persons who have completed Master Gardener training in another Tennessee county or another state, and were members in good standing, may petition for immediate membership in the MCMGA (see UT Extension Master Gardener Program Guidelines and Procedures for out-of-state policy).

g. Members who have served in good standing for 10 or more consecutive years are presented with the appropriate milestone badge:

- 10 years: Bronze badge
- 15 years: Silver badge
- 20 years: Gold badge
- 25 years: Platinum badge

Platinum status requires 15 hours of volunteer service and/or continued education annually. They may hold office and vote. They are exempt from paying dues.

h. Honorary members are persons who have shown overwhelming support for the organization but have not been through the program. They are exempt from paying dues.

SECTION 2. All memberships are for a calendar year.

a. Members record volunteer/education hours from January through December and report as required by the County Extension Agent in early December.

b. Interns who become certified may count all hours from January to December of that year to meet ongoing certification requirements.

SECTION 3. Membership dues shall be in an amount set annually by the Association, payable in January – February of each year. Platinum and Honorary members do not pay dues. **See above for definition of Platinum member and addenda for current dues.**

SECTION 4. Each dues-paying member shall be entitled to one vote on all matters brought before the Association.

ARTICLE V – OFFICERS AND ELECTIONS

SECTION 1. The officers of the Association shall be a President, two Vice Presidents, Secretary, Treasurer, and Immediate Past President. A co-officer can be available if needed.

a. Officers are members of the Association Board along with the current chairs of Association Standing Committees. The Executive Committee is elected officers.

b. Duties are set forth in Section 3.

c. **See addenda for current officers.**

SECTION 2. Election of officers.

a. All members in good standing are eligible to serve as officers.

b. Elections shall be held biannually at the November meeting of the Association. At the August meeting, the President will provide brief descriptions of committee chair duties and ask members and interns to sign up for chair positions they are willing to hold. At the September meeting, the President will provide brief descriptions of officer duties and ask members to sign up for officer positions they are willing to hold. The president will appoint a nominating committee to review volunteers and other qualified candidates. This committee will present in October a slate of officers to be voted on at the November meeting. The slate proposed by the committee shall be published in electronic form prior to the November meeting.

c. Officers are elected for a period of two years, and their term of office shall begin on January 1 of the following year. Officers may serve multiple terms with the approval of the County Extension Agent. Officers will assist in a smooth transition to new officers; maintain an “Officer’s Duties” binder supplied by the Association and pass along to the next person elected to the position.

d. No elected officer shall hold more than one office at a time.

e. In the event that an office becomes vacant, a special election will be held to elect a member to fill the position for the unexpired term.

SECTION 3. Duties of Officers.

a. The President shall:

- 1) Prepare an agenda for each meeting of the Association
- 2) Preside at all meetings of the Association
- 3) Appoint Standing and Special Committee chairs
- 4) Be an official representative of the Association at State, Regional, or other events external to the county organization
- 5) Call special Association meetings, as requested or required
- 6) Be an ex officio and voting member of all committees

- 7) Publish monthly and special communications via email, including meeting notices
 - 8) Authorize up to two scholarships for the Master Gardener Training Class each year.
 - 9) Perform other duties as may be required
- b. The Vice Presidents shall:
- 1) Preside when the President is absent or unable to act – in agreement with other VP
 - 2) Be in charge of meeting programs and secure speakers
 - 3) Plan service projects, about once per month
 - 4) Provide about five garden-related door prizes, predominantly gender neutral, and manage a drawing at each membership meeting
 - 5) Ensure speakers support the MCMGA purpose and help increase membership with the support of the County Extension Agent
 - 6) Support committees at the President's request and share Standing Committee oversight as agreed
 - 7) Perform other duties as may be required
- c. The Secretary shall:
- 1) Record the minutes of all meetings of the membership and make them available before the next meeting
 - 2) Be the custodian of the records of the organization
 - 3) Handle general correspondence of the organization
 - 4) Maintain the roster of members
 - 5) Keep a record of attendance at monthly meetings
 - 6) Provide support to members and interns for the Volunteer Service and Education Hours Online System
 - 7) Perform other duties as may be required
- d. The Treasurer shall:
- 1) By November, prepare annual budget for coming year based on requests of officers and committee chairs, in conjunction with the outgoing treasurer from the previous election
 - 2) Collect monies due the MCMGA, including member dues
 - 3) Make necessary disbursements only as approved by President and membership -- if more than \$100, by approval of members at an Association meeting by simple majority; if less than \$100, President is authorized to make the disbursement
 - 4) Keep an accurate account of receipts and disbursements, and make line-item reports in March, August and October to membership meetings indicating budget remaining as well as annual report/new budget in January
 - 5) Submit financials as required by UT Extension
 - 6) Perform other duties as may be required
- e. The Immediate Past President, the outgoing president, shall:
- 1) Serve in a consulting capacity
 - 2) Chair the Standing Committee for Mentoring and Retention
 - 3) Chair the nominating committee

ARTICLE VI – MEETINGS

SECTION 1. Membership meetings of the MCMGA shall be held monthly on such days, at times and places as the membership may designate. **See addenda for current meeting time/place.**

SECTION 2. A membership meeting in November of every other year shall include the election of officers.

SECTION 3. At all meetings where business is conducted, voting members present shall constitute a quorum.

SECTION 4. The fiscal year for financial reporting is January 1 to December 31. At the January meeting, the end-of-year financial report and the budget for the following year will be presented for approval of the membership.

SECTION 5. A meeting of the Association Board, consisting of Officers and Standing Committee Chairs, shall be held in January of each year.

ARTICLE VII – COMMITTEES

SECTION 1. The President may create committees as needed and shall appoint committee chairs. The chair of a committee selects committee members. Committees are of three types:

a. Executive Committee is the elected officers and is called into session to facilitate decision making between annual meetings of the Association Board or in urgent and crisis circumstances.

b. Standing committees are necessary for the continued existence or functioning of the Association. Standing Committee Chairs will assist in a smooth transition and maintain a “Committee Chair’s Duties” binder supplied by the Association to pass along to the next person appointed to the position. **See addenda for current Standing Committees.**

c. Special committees may be appointed to meet short-term or immediate goals and can be for any purpose, including special events.

SECTION 2. The quorum for a committee shall be members in attendance.

SECTION 3. The President shall be an ex officio member of all committees with the right to vote, unless delegated to another officer.

SECTION 4. Each Committee Chair shall:

a. Understand needs and arrange funding, applying for grants and awards

b. Schedule committee meetings/workdays and inform members

c. Record the minutes of committee meetings and issue a summary to the Secretary to be made available with the monthly minutes of the Association

d. Report progress at monthly meetings, as appropriate

e. Submit budget requests for the following year to the Treasurer by October 15 of current year

ARTICLE VIII – COMMUNICATION

SECTION 1. Official communication of The MCMGA is through electronic means. All communications must include the current University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture statement of equal opportunity.

SECTION 2. When any notice is required to be given to the membership, electronic publication is deemed sufficient.

ARTICLE IX – PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Robert's Rules of Order, Revised will govern the Association in all cases to which they are applicable.

ARTICLE X – AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1. This organization may adopt new or revised bylaws or amendments to the bylaws at any time as specified in Sections 2 – 4.

SECTION 2. Changes to the bylaws may be proposed at any membership meeting by any member in good standing.

SECTION 3. At the time it is presented, an amendment may be amended by simple majority vote. It may not be finally adopted at the same meeting in which it was proposed.

SECTION 4. A proposed amendment will be advertised by electronic means prior to the next meeting of the membership, at which time it will be brought to a vote. Changes to the bylaws require an affirmative vote of two-thirds of voting members present.

ARTICLE XI – DISSOLUTION

In the event that the MCMGA disbands or otherwise ceases to function, all assets of whatever nature which remain after just debts and responsibilities have been satisfied shall be deposited in the Maury County Extension Office account to be used for educational purposes. No part of the net income shall inure to the benefit of any member or be distributed to its members or officers.

REVISION HISTORY

REVISED BY VOTE OF MEMBERSHIP: February 11, 2020

PROPOSED FULL REVISION reviewed by the Association Board on January 18, 2022; last edited: January 26; briefly reviewed at membership meeting February 1; published in full in March newsletter

Adopted by the membership at the membership meeting on March 1, 2022

Revised by the membership at the membership meeting on February 7, 2023

Revised by the membership at the membership meeting on October 3, 2023

Revised by the membership at the membership meeting on November 7, 2023

ADDENDA TO BYLAWS

For 2024-2025

Maintained by current MCMG President

MCMGA Annual Dues

Annual dues, collected January – February of each year, are \$10.00

MCMGA Meeting Time and Place

6:00 p.m. on First Tuesday of January, February, March, April, August, September, October and November

Maury County Senior Citizens Center, Maury County Park

Special activities in other months:

May	Plant Sale on Saturday before Mother's Day in Baker Building, Maury County Park
June	Garden Tour (James K. Polk Home tour in odd years and members' gardens in even years)
July	Social (Meet 'n Greet)
December	Social (Christmas Party)

MCMGA Officers 2024-2025

President Larry Heidkamp

Vice President Stephanie Horstman

Vice President Vickie Wilburn

Secretary April Ray

Treasurer Dawn Arnold

Immediate Past President Kathie Wilson

MCMGA Standing Committees and Chairs 2024-2025

1. Plant Sale: Melanie Edwards, Annette Wakefield
2. Mentoring and Retention: Immediate Past President Kathie Wilson
3. Meeting Coordination: Keith and Sue Geier; Backup: Stacy Gordon
4. Publicity:
 - a. Larry Heidkamp (Web Master)
 - b. April Ray (newsletter)
 - c. Keith Buddemeyer (Facebook),
 - d. Shari Buddemeyer (Instagram)
 - e. Ann Pilgreen (Plant Sale)
5. Maury County Home and Garden Show: Melanie Edwards
6. Maury County Fair: Dawn Boruff; Fair Booth: Melanie Edwards
7. Sunshine: Cay McShurley
8. Field Trips: Gail Whitaker
9. Social Events: Dawn Arnold
10. Seed Collection and Seed Swap: Christine Berglund, Candice Gourley
11. Parade Floats: Deborah Savino, Stephenie Horstman
12. TN Tree Day: Keith and Sue Geier